UNITED
NATIONS E

Di str.
GENERAL

Economic and Social
Council

E/ C. 12/ 1999/ SR. 5
24 June 1999

ENGLI SH
Original: FRENCH

COWM TTEE ON ECONOM C, SOCI AL AND CULTURAL RI GHTS
Twenti eth session
SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 5t h MEETI NG

Hel d at the Palais des Nations, Geneva,
on Wednesday, 28 April 1999, at 10 a.m

Chai rperson: ©Ms. BONOAN- DANDAN

CONTENTS
CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS:

(a) REPORTS SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTI ES I N ACCORDANCE W TH ARTI CLES 16
AND 17 OF THE COVENANT (conti nued)

Second periodic report of Iceland (continued)

ELECTI ON OF OFFI CERS

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submtted in one of the working | anguages. They
shoul d be set forth in a nmenorandum and al so incorporated in a copy of the
record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this docunent to
the O ficial Records Editing Section, roomE. 4108, Pal ais des Nations, Ceneva.

Any corrections to the records of the public neetings of the Conmittee
at this session will be consolidated in a single corrigendum to be issued
shortly after the end of the session

GE. 99-41383 (E)



E/ C. 12/ 1999/ SR 5
page 2

The neeting was called to order at 10.05 a.m

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS:

(a) REPORTS SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTI ES | N ACCORDANCE W TH ARTI CLES 16
AND 17 OF THE COVENANT (agenda item 8) (continued)

Second periodic report of Iceland (continued) (E 1990/6/Add. 15);
List of issues (E/C.12/QICE/ 1); Witten responses by the
I cel andi ¢ Gover nment (HR/ CESCR/ NONE/ 1999/ 2)

1. At the invitation of the Chairperson, the menbers of the del egation of
Iceland resuned their places at the Committee table.

2. The CHAI RPERSON invited the Icel andic delegation to respond to questions
asked by nmenmbers of the Conmittee.

3. Ms. ARNLJOTSDOTTIR (lcel and), responding to questions relating to the
Act of 17 Decenmber 1998 on nedi cal databases, said that according to the
initial conclusions reached by Icelandic experts |ooking into the subject, the
Act was in conformty with all the European Conventions and all the relevant
directives of the European Union. A recent university study on the question
had yi el ded the sanme conclusions. Wth regard to the cost of health services
since certain standard nmedical fees had been reduced by a decision adopted in
April 1999, the standard fee for a visit to a general practitioner had been
set at 300 Icelandic krona (US$ 4.30) for the population at large, but at only
100 Icelandic krona (US$ 1.40) for the elderly, the disabled and children

The cost for consulting a specialist was |1SK 1,400 and | SK 500, respectively,
with a possible surcharge of 40 per cent in the first case and 30 per cent in
the second. Under a special regine, any individual or famly was entitled to
reduced rates beyond a certain annual threshold of expenditure. Wth regard
to the situation of the elderly, a recent survey by the Mnistry of Health and
Soci al Security showed that they were generally satisfied with the quality of
health services provided and that nost of them had never had to refrain from
consul ting a physician because the standard fee was too high. As to possible
restrictions on access to health services owing to age, while it was true that
the Mnistry had had to set priorities, there had never been any intention to
reduce nedi cal coverage for persons over 60 years of age. In that respect,
the elderly had the same rights as the popul ation at |arge.

4, Concerni ng al cohol and drug abuse, she said that a study carried out

in 1997 showed that, paradoxically, the rate of alcohol consunption was very
low in Iceland conpared with other Nordic countries, whereas the nunber of

i ndi vi dual s under treatment for al coholismwas anmong the highest in the world.
The study al so showed an increase in the consunption of drugs in general anong
young peopl e.

5. M. ANTANOVI CH asked whether the trend in al cohol consunption towards
reduced consunption of hard |liquor conpared with wi ne and beer had devel oped
spont aneously or was the result of a considered policy.

6. Ms. ARNLJOTSDOTTIR (lceland) said that the trend coul d be attributed
both to natural factors and to certain restrictions on alcohol consunption in




E/ C. 12/ 1999/ SR 5
page 3

I celandic society. Icelanders nade a clear demarcation between work and

| ei sure, and the ban on beer with an al cohol content of nmore than 2.24 degrees
whi ch had been in force since 1915, had been maintained until 1989, when the
abstinence rate had been 14 per cent anong nen and 18 per cent anobng women.

7. M. HUNT asked whether the cost of prescription nmedication had
i ncreased.
8. Ms. ARNLJOTSDOTTIR (lcel and) said that there had been a major change

in 1994, when control over the sale and distribution of medication had been
transferred fromthe State to the private sector. The cost of nedication had
since di m nished, but that reduction had nothing to do with State

i ntervention, since producers had reduced their prices on their own
initiative. She could provide figures to nmenbers of the Conmittee who w shed
to know nore on that subject.

9. Ms. BALDURSDOTTIR (lceland), replying to questions relating to the right
to work, said it was true that a work pernmit was issued to the enployer for
the first three years and that a person from a non- European Uni on country
married to an |celandic national nust be the holder of a work pernmit, which in
practice was always issued to such persons, even if it was valid for only
three years. The Labour Board and the Mnistry of Social Affairs were
currently considering the nmatter as part of the revision of Act No. 133 of
1994 on the right to work. On donestic violence, it should be pointed out
that the State and civil society had been cooperating intensively over the
past 10 years or so to conmbat that scourge. |In 1982, a shelter for wonen
victinms of violence and their children had been opened in Reykjavik. An NGO
provi ded material, nedical and psychol ogical aid free of charge to wonen and
girls who had been subjected to sexual violence and operated a training and

i nformati on centre that was open to the public and to professionals capabl e of
assisting the victinms. Information provided by the Centre showed clearly that
sexual violence was as prevalent in Iceland as in neighbouring countries.

Si nce 1993, the Reykjavik hospital had been offering nmedical, psychol ogica
and social aid for rape victins as well as legal aid fromthe | odging of a
conpl ai nt through the various stages of its processing.

10. As to the question raised by M. Ahmed, whether foreigners had the right
to engage in comercial fishing and to consunme energy, she said that Act

No. 34 of 1991 on foreign investnment in Icelandic industry set out
restrictions on indirect foreign investnent in the fishing industry and

prohi bited direct investnment. On the other hand, there were no restrictions
on energy use by foreigners and foreign conmpanies in fact consunmed over

60 per cent of the electricity produced in Icel and.

11. Ms. JI MENEZ BUTRAGUENO asked whether the penalties inposed on
perpetrators of famly violence had been strengthened in recent years. Had
woren' s associ ations nobilized to ensure that the Crimnal Code punished such
of fenders nore severely?

12. Ms. BALDURSDOTTIR (lcel and) said that the penalties set out by the |aw
had not been altered, but the courts mght well be applying them nore
stringently.




E/ C. 12/ 1999/ SR 5
page 4

13. Ms. JI MENEZ BUTRAGUENO sai d she was concerned to see that the Act on the
Ri ghts of Patients did not |ist age anong the grounds on which discrimnation
anong patients was prohibited, particularly in view of the ageing of the
popul ati on. She was concerned that the elderly, in comparison with other
categories of the popul ation, m ght be subjected to discrimnation

14. Ms. ARNLJOTSDOTTIR (lceland) said that age was inplicitly included anong
the grounds for discrimnation nentioned in article 1, paragraph 2 of that
Act. The Constitution expressly prohibited any discrimnation on grounds of
age, inter alia. The Icelandic del egation neverthel ess acknow edged that it

m ght be desirable for that factor to be specifically mentioned in the Act.

Articles 13 and 14: Right to education

15. Ms. JENSDOTTIR (lceland) informed nenbers of the Committee that

since 1 January 1998, three higher education institutions had becone
affiliated with the university in order to reinforce the Icelandic educationa
system

16. M. AHMED requested clarification on the type of courses offered for
children who were not nationals of the country in lcelandic and in their
not her tongue.

17. M. HUNT asked whether the 1995 Act on Conpul sory Education, which gave
muni ci pal authorities responsibility for the financing of educationa
institutions for children aged 6 to 16 years, was not |likely to exacerbate the
i nequal ity between the nore prosperous municipalities and those that were | ess
wel | -to-do. Supported by M. CEAUSU, he asked whet her the Governnent had set
up a systemto prevent and correct possible regional disparities in respect of
financi ng and educati onal standards.

18. M. THAPALI A requested information on the nunber, age and sex of the

di sabl ed, and on educational institutions for them Wth regard to the right
to education, was there an education progranme for the elderly and was
anyt hi ng being done to ensure that their know edge and experience were handed
down to the younger generation?

19. M. CEAUSU asked whether there was a nunmerus clausus for admission to
upper secondary schools and, if so, what the adm ssion procedures were.

20. M. PILLAY asked whether steps had been taken to uphold the
qualifications of teachers and to ensure that their salaries were revi ewed.

21. Ms. JENSDOTTIR (lceland), responding to M. Ahned, said that in addition
to the courses taken by Icel andic students, foreign students had two hours of
study of the Icelandic | anguage every week and their classes were held in the
| anguage that was their nother tongue insofar as possible. |In the past few
years, the Governnent had admitted many refugees, who had taken up residence
in municipalities where their children could attend cl asses given in the

| anguage that was their nother tongue by adults who could also serve as their
interpreters until they |earned Icelandic. The new curriculum granted
foreigners the right to study Icelandic as a second | anguage so as to
facilitate their integration into society.




E/ C. 12/ 1999/ SR 5
page 5

22. Wth regard to the danger of regional disparities nentioned by M. Hunt
and M. Ceausu, she said that the Government had set up a common fund financed
by the State to preclude the persistence or growh of a gap between the

ri chest and poorest nunicipalities. The Mnistry of Education was al so
wor ki ng towards that objective with the new curriculumapplied in al
educational institutions, which provided for the nonitoring and eval uati on of
the teaching in such institutions. Although it was too early to draw
conclusions, the local authorities and the popul ation were taking a greater
interest not only in the financing but also in the managenent of schol astic

i nstitutions.

23. Replying to a question by M. Ceausu, she said that there was no nunmerus
clausus for adm ssion to upper secondary education, but that since 1996, in
sone fields of study, students who appeared not to have the necessary |evel of
learning were required to take a prelimnary year of preparatory studies. The
new system was ai ned at reducing the high rate of school drop-outs.

24. Ms. JENSDOTTIR (lceland), replying to M. Thapalia, said that her
country did not have a system under which the elderly could give young people
the benefit of their experience and their know edge. Certain hospitals
brought in retired physicians to help in training medical students, although
that approach had not been extensively developed. 1In response to M. Pillay,
she acknow edged that the situation of the teaching staff was not as good as
could be desired. Taking advantage of the econom c upturn, private
enterprises were offering teachers better-paying jobs than those in the civi
service, sometinmes obliging the State to recruit persons wi thout all the
necessary qualifications. Negotiations with teachers being the exclusive
responsibility of the local authorities, the State could do nothing nore than
to give further encouragenent to students to train as teachers. The fact that
education was now the responsibility of the |Iocal authorities had hel ped to

i mprove the salaries of the teaching staff, which had grown on average by

33 per cent in recent years - three tinmes as fast as for other civil servants.

25. Ms. JI MENEZ BUTRAGUENO pointed out that in a 1996 report, the Conmittee
on the Elimnation of Discrimnation agai nst Whnen had recommended t hat

i nstruction on human rights, and particularly on equality between the sexes,
shoul d be given in the schools. She asked whether the Icel andic Governnent
had taken that recommendation into account.

26. M. SADI recalled that the General Assenbly of the United Nations had
procl ai med 1995-2004 the United Nations Decade for Human Ri ghts Education

Was the Icelandic Governnent aware that the Decade was being held, and what
measures had it taken to apply the programme? Could the Icelandic del egation
provide nore detailed information on the reasons for the high drop-out rate
anong secondary school students?

27. Ms. JENSDOTTIR (lceland) said that equality between the sexes was a
reality in Iceland and everything was done to ensure that it renmined so,

i ncl udi ng consci ousness-raising activities in the schools and in other sectors
of society. The Governnment was aware of the holding of the United Nations
Decade for Human Ri ghts Education and informati on panphl ets on that subject
had been distributed in the schools. Even though human rights were not a

subj ect in thenselves, they were neverthel ess constantly brought up in




E/ C. 12/ 1999/ SR 5
page 6

di sci plines such as history and sociology. On the high drop-out rate, she
referred nenbers of the Comrittee to paragraphs 131 to 135 of the replies to
the list of issues, which contained detailed information, not only on the
reasons for the drop-out rate but also on neasures to reduce it.

28. M. WMER said he was surprised that the report gave no information on
uni versity education, which was neverthel ess the cul m nating point of the
educational system \What were the conditions for adm ssion to higher
education and how were the universities financed? What opportunities were
open to students and what were the chances of obtaining grants?

29. M. AHMED asked why only 40 per cent of university students were men.
VWhat were the factors, if any, that obstructed access of nmen to university?
Could it be said that their human rights were being viol ated?

30. Ms. JENSDOTTIR (lcel and) said that admission to university was possible
with a secondary school -l1eaving certificate. Higher education was directly
financed by the State, students being required only to pay registration fees.
There was a fund from which students could obtain a |oan to neet their
day-to-day expenses and it was open to all, with no discrimnation whatsoever.
The fact that fewer nen than wonen entered the university was a recent
phenonenon: 20 years ago, the situation had been the reverse. No analysis
had been made of the matter, but it was possible to assume that nore nen found
j obs wi thout having attended university, including in branches of activity
such as fishing, for which vocational training was provided in the secondary
school s.

31. Ms. JI MENEZ BUTRAGUENO asked whet her, |ike other countries, Iceland was
experiencing the problem of unenploynment of university graduates.

32. Ms. JENSDOTTIR (lceland) said that the problemdid not arise since the
creation of enterprises in advanced fields |ike biotechnol ogy had enabl ed many
university graduates to find jobs in line with their training.

33. M. AHMED said he had been surprised to read in the reply on item 34 of
the Iist of issues that all branches of science could be studied in Icel and,
with the exception of architecture and veterinary science. Did that mean that
there was no |ivestock-raising in the country?

34. Ms. JENSDOTTIR (lceland) said it was true that no one in Iceland had
rai sed the question of why Icelandic students had to go to other Scandi navi an
countries to study architecture and veterinary science. The situation
neverthel ess offered an advantage in that various architectural styles were
represented in the country and accordingly the | andscapes were very
attractive.

Article 15: Right to take part in cultural life

35. The CHAI RPERSON invited members of the Committee to ask questions or
make comrents concerning itens 35 and 36 of the list of issues.

36. M. ANTANOVI CH asked whether filns were produced in Iceland and, if so,
how many. In the past few years, what had been the proportion of foreign




E/ C. 12/ 1999/ SR 5
page 7

tel evision progranmes? WAs the invasion of Anerican cultural products a
subj ect of controversy in Iceland, as in other European countries? He hinself
believed that foreign products were often sinply made i nto scapegoats when in

fact it was |ocal products that were of poor quality. |In that connection, did
the Icel andi c Governnent have a policy supporting and prompting artistic
quality at the national |evel, including in the cinem?

37. M. MARCHAN ROVERO said it was regrettable that the report devoted only
five short paragraphs to the rights set out in article 15 of the Covenant.
That very sunmary treatnment was unfortunate, for cultural rights were equally
as inmportant as econom c and social rights. He wi shed to know what portion of
t he budget was allocated to culture and whether there was a national plan for
t he devel opnent, conservation and dissemi nation of cultural heritage. Had the
CGover nment taken specific neasures to give students and the elderly greater
access to cultural sites such as nmuseuns and |ibraries at preferential rates?
According to the informati on he had received, there had been a tangible drop
in attendance at theatres and ci nemas. What expl ai ned the public's apathy?
Was it, perhaps, inadequacies in the policy on dissem nation and pronotion of
cul tural works?

38. M. GRISSA asked what opportunities were available to various sectors of
t he I cel andi ¢ popul ation, which was becom ng nore and nore heterogeneous
because of an influx from abroad, to take advantage of their cultural heritage
and to profess their religious faith.

39. Ms. JI MENEZ BUTRAGUENO asked what specific steps were being taken by the
State and local authorities to pronote access of elderly people to culture,

i ncluding at preferential rates, how many non-governmental organizations were
present in Iceland and what was the nature of their activities. Wre there
organi zations for the elderly and for young peopl e?

40. The CHAI RPERSON invited the Icelandic delegation to reply to the
qguestions rai sed by nenbers of the Commttee.

41. Ms. JENSDOTTIR (lceland) confirmed that the nunber of filns of nediocre
qual ity broadcast in |Iceland had been increasing over the past 20 years. To
confront the conpetition fromforeign filns, lIcelandic filmmakers could
obtain financial aid fromthe Icelandic fund for the cinema or fromforeign
organi zations. Wth regard to the controversy about nmass inports of foreign
films to the detrinent of |ocal output, Icelandic filnms were generally of
better quality than inported ones, but the small size of the |ocal narket

wor ked against them |In addition, their export was hardly facilitated by the
fact that Icelandic was totally unknown abroad. The State gave subsi di es not
only to the cinema but also to other sectors of cultural activity, such as the
fine arts, literature and nmusic, while leaving to artists thenselves the
responsi bility for managi ng the funds, a system which appeared to be fully
sati sfactory.

42. The proportion of the national budget devoted to culture had risen
from1l.6 per cent to 2.2 per cent of the gross domestic product between 1987
and 1996. It was artists and other cultural workers rather than the

Gover nment who determ ned cultural orientations and policy, even though the
State subsidized cultural activities.



E/ C. 12/ 1999/ SR 5
page 8

43. Wth regard to access of the elderly to culture, she said the elderly
were accorded preferential rates for certain cultural events at the nationa
I evel. There were extensive programmes of cultural activities at the |oca
| evel , sonething which encouraged the elderly to participate actively in
cultural life, including in the theatre. There was an extremely active
cultural association for the elderly which gave very popul ar theatre
performances, often depicting the situation of the elderly.

44, I cel and had many non-governnental organizations, which could be freely
established by any person residing in the country, but the authorities had not
considered it useful to nake a survey of them

45, Wth regard to religious freedomin Iceland, she said that everyone was
free to practise his religion, whatever his national or other origin
Everyone was also free to participate on the same footing in the cultural life

of the country and to obtain subsidies for cultural or artistic activities.

46. As to the provision of subsidies to religious conmunities other than the
Evangel i cal Lutheran Church, she expl ained that part of the taxes paid was
automatically transmtted to that Church or, if the taxpayer was not a nenber
of that Church, to his or her own church or religious comunity.

47. The identity cards of Icelanders did not indicate their religion, but
religion was nentioned on the incone tax statement that they filled out every
year in order to designate the beneficiary of the ecclesiastical tax.

48. Ms. BALDURSDOTTIR (lceland) said that |Iceland intended to become a party
to 1LO Convention No. 138 concerning M ninmum Age for Adm ssion to Enpl oynent
and had started the ratification procedure.

49. The CHAI RPERSON t hanked the Icel andi c del egati on and announced t hat
consi deration of the second periodic report of Iceland had been conpl et ed.

50. The Icelandic del egation w thdrew.

ELECTI ON OF OFFI CERS (agenda item 2) (continued)

51. The CHAI RPERSON said that, follow ng private consultati ons anbng nmenbers
of the Commttee, M. Ahnmed had been el ected Vice-Chairperson of the
Conmi ttee.

The neeting rose at 12.45 p. m




